STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

ROBERT HENRY OSBEY,

RECEIVED

AUG 29 2017

PETITIONER

S.C. SUPREME COURT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001038

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the PCR court err in finding that Petitioner Osbey had knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to counsel at his guilty plea and therefore failed to prove that his *pro se* guilty plea was unintelligently and involuntarily made which was prejudicial to Petitioner Osbey because he never received nor saw the discovery in his case?

## STATEMENT

On March 25, 2014 in Spartanburg County, a confidential informant (CI) met with narcotics officers and was fitted with audio-video equipment and provided with five hundred dollars in order to purchase drugs. Later the CI met with Petitioner Osbey who allegedly sold to the CI 13.12 grams of crack cocaine. App. 11, ll. 13 – 23.

On April 15, 2014, narcotics officers again met with a CI in order for the CI to purchase drugs from Petitioner Osbey. The CI was fitted with audio and video equipment and given five hundred dollars again for drugs. The CI purchased 12.7 grams of crack cocaine from Osbey. App. 11, ll. 24 – App. 12, ll. 6.

On April 18, 2014, the narcotics officers executed a search warrant at Osbey's place of residence. Found during the search were scales, some marijuana, and 1.92 grams of crack cocaine. Petitioner Osbey was charged with two counts of trafficking crack cocaine and one count of PWID crack cocaine. App. 8, ll. 8 – App. 10, ll. 3; App. 50 – App. 61.

April 1, 2015, Petitioner Osbey appeared before the Honorable J. Derham Cole, and entered a guilty plea to the three charges as indicted. Petitioner Osbey represented himself, and the state was represented by Hunter Christopher Blouin. App. 1.

At the guilty plea hearing, the judge told Osbey that he had the right to an attorney. The judge explained that one could be appointed if he did not have the money. Osbey told the judge that he had not applied for a public defender. He said he had talked to the public defenders' office the week before his guilty plea, but was told that the office needed at least two weeks to have one appointed. When the judge asked him if he had knowingly and intelligently made the decision not to have a lawyer assist him on his case, Osbey replied: "No sir. I just---I was trying to get one. Just didn't have the money." App. 3, ll. 1 – App. 5, ll. 19.

The judge pointed out that Osbey had had a year as he was arrested April 18, 2014, to get an attorney. The judge found based on Osbey's waiting to get an attorney that Osbey had waived his right to counsel by his conduct. App. 5, ll. 17 – App. 6, ll. 2. The judge then accepted Osbey's plea and sentenced him to eight years on each of the two trafficking crack charges to run concurrent. The sentence on the PWID crack was five years to run consecutive to the other two charges but it was suspended to three years probation. App. 13, ll. 18 – App. 14, ll. 8.

Petitioner Osbey did not appeal his convictions nor sentences. App. 34, ll. 18-19. On February 23, 2016, Osbey filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). The state filed a return on October 13, 2016. App. 42. An evidentiary hearing was held February 1, 2017 before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. Petitioner Osbey was represented by Susannah C. Ross, and the state was represented by Caitlin B. Hastings. App. 32.

At the PCR hearing, PCR counsel argued a due process violation based on the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments and Article 1, Section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution. Counsel explained that Osbey's plea was *pro se*, and there was nothing in the record to indicate that the judge issued any warnings about the dangers of self-representation. She argued that no Faretta warnings were given. Therefore, he lacked sufficient understanding to make a knowing and voluntary waiver of counsel. PCR counsel continued to report that he did not have standby counsel either. Counsel argued that the plea judge made a ruling that Osbey had voluntarily waived his right to counsel because he failed to get a lawyer because he waited too long. Counsel reported that he was never ordered to get a public defender, and then was told by the public defender's office that there was not time to get a defender before trial. Counsel cited the case of Gardner v. State, 351 S.C. 407, 570 S.E.2d 184 (2002).

Petitioner Osbey testified at the PCR hearing that he was trying to save the money to get a lawyer but every time he got the money for a “down payment,” child support “would come and take it.” App. 36, ll. 20 – App. 37, ll. 6; App. 39, ll. 8 – 19. He never saw any evidence against him as he did not receive a discovery package or anything concerning the evidence. App. 37, ll. 7 – 20. When he called the public defender’s office before his court date, he was told they needed more than two weeks to have an attorney for him. App. 37, ll. 18 – App. 38, ll. 8.

PCR counsel argued in closing again that there was no evidence in the record that Osbey was warned of the dangers of self-representation. Counsel argued that pursuant to Gardner v. State, Id. Osbey did not meet the required elements for a knowing and voluntary waiver of his right to counsel. App. 40, ll. 1 – 11.

The PCR judge found Osbey’s testimony to be “neither credible nor legally relevant.” App. 43. The PCR judge found that the plea judge was correct in finding that Osbey had waived his right to counsel. Therefore, the judge found that Osbey failed to prove that his guilty plea was unintelligently and involuntarily made. App. 45; App. 47. The judge denied Osbey’s PCR application and dismissed it with prejudice. App. 48.

Osbey filed a notice of appeal. This petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding that Petitioner Osbey had knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to counsel at his guilty plea and therefore failed to prove that his *pro se* guilty plea was unintelligently and involuntarily made which was prejudicial to Petitioner Osbey

Due process of law requires that before a guilty plea can be entered voluntarily and intelligently, a defendant must be advised of his privilege against compulsory self-incrimination, the right to trial by jury Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S. Ct. 1709 (1969). The record must show with certain certainty that the plea is “an intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privilege”. State v. Patterson, 278 S.C. 319, 295 S.E.2d 264 (1982). Judges are required to give the defendant an explanation of the defendant’s waiver of his constitutional rights and a realistic picture of all sentencing possibilities. State v. Armstrong, 263 S.C. 594, 211 S.E.2d 889 (1975).

An accused may waive his right to counsel and proceed *pro se*. However, the accused must be advised of his right to counsel and adequately warned of the dangers of self-representation. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). The right must be preserved even where the court – as here and almost always – believes that the defendant will benefit from the advice of counsel. State v. Fuller, 337 S.C. 236, 241, 523 S.E.2d 168, 170 (1999); State v. Brewer, 328 S.C. 117, 492 S.E.2d 97 (1997); State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 503 S.E.2d 747 (1988). The Faretta Court wrote that the Sixth Amendment guarantees that a defendant in a state criminal trial has an independent constitutional right of self-representation when he voluntarily and intelligently elects to do so.

In Wroten v. State, 301 S.C. 293, 391 S.E.2d 575 (1990), the Supreme Court reversed and remanded the case because the record did not demonstrate that the petitioner was sufficiently aware

of the dangers of self-representation to make an informed decision to proceed without counsel. The Court wrote that the ultimate test was not the judge's advice, but the defendant's understanding.

In Gardner v. State, supra, the Supreme Court reversed the PCR court's denial of Gardner's PCR and remanded his case. The Court held that the evidence was insufficient to support a finding that the defendant understood the dangers of self-representation and knowingly and intelligently waived his right to counsel when he pleaded guilty.

Osbey's case is extremely similar to the issues in Gardner's case. Gardner could not afford to continue paying a private attorney and a public defender was never appointed. Gardner had been represented by a public defender on a prior charge. Gardner had been informed by the magistrate that he had a right to an attorney. Gardner's plea court also found that he had been advised at arraignment that he had a right to a public defender. And the court found that Gardner was completely familiar with the court system.