STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

OCT 17 2017

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001038

Robert Henry Osbey,.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

VALERIE GARCIA GIOVANOLI
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 102524

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

- I. **Should this Court deny review where the Post-Conviction Relief (“PCR”) court correctly found Petitioner waived his right to counsel by his conduct where he was advised three separate times over the course of a year that he had a constitutional right to counsel and if he wanted one appointed to him, he needed to file an application with the Public Defender’s Office, but he failed to do so prior to pleading guilty?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Clerk of Court for Spartanburg County. Petitioner was indicted at the December 2014 term of the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for two counts of trafficking in cocaine base, 10-28g (2014-GS-42-6239, and -6240) and one count of possession with intent to distribute cocaine base (2014-GS-42-6241). On April 1, 2015, Petitioner appeared *pro se* and pleaded guilty before the Honorable J. Derham Cole to all charges as indicted. Pursuant to the State's recommendation, Judge Cole sentenced Petitioner to imprisonment for concurrent terms of eight years for each count of trafficking in cocaine base, and to a consecutive term of five years suspended to three years of probation for possession with intent to distribute cocaine base. Petitioner did not appeal his convictions or sentences.¹

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief ("PCR") on February 23, 2016 alleging his guilty plea was involuntary and that he did not knowingly waive his right to counsel. Respondent made its Return on October 13, 2016, requesting that an evidentiary hearing be held. A hearing was convened on February 1, 2017, at the Spartanburg County Courthouse before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. Petitioner was present and represented by Susannah C. Ross, Esquire. Assistant Attorney General Caitlin B. Hastings represented Respondent.

Judge Miller issued an order of dismissal on March 21, 2017 and filed March 27, 2017. Petitioner filed a notice of appeal on April 26, 2017. On August 29, 2017, a petition for a writ

¹ On February 22, 2016, Petitioner also pled guilty to two State Grand Jury charges – trafficking in cocaine (conspiracy) (400 grams or more) and trafficking in cocaine (200 to 400 grams) (2014-GS-47-0007). Private attorney, Tivis C. Sutherland, IV, Esquire, represented Petitioner on these charges. Petitioner received, and is currently serving, a negotiated fifteen (15) year sentence for these convictions. Petitioner filed a PCR application for these convictions. That PCR action is still pending (2017-CP-23-1523).

of certiorari was filed on Petitioner's behalf by LaNelle Cantey DuRant, Esquire. This return follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief decision is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the lower court’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). The post-conviction relief court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law receive great deference during appellate review. Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000).

ARGUMENTS

- I. The PCR court did not err in finding Petitioner waived his right to counsel by his conduct where he was advised three separate times over the course of a year that he had a constitutional right to counsel and if he wanted one appointed to him, he needed to file an application with the Public Defender's Office, but he failed to do so prior to pleading guilty.**

The post-conviction relief court did not err in denying relief because Petitioner waived his right to counsel by conduct before pleading guilty. The accused in a criminal prosecution has a Sixth Amendment right to the assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI. South Carolina Courts recognize “three different ways in which a defendant may relinquish his right to counsel: (1) waiver by an affirmative, verbal request; (2) waiver by conduct; and (3) forfeiture.” State v. Roberson, 382 S.C. 185, 187, 675 S.E.2d 732, 733 (2009) (citing State v. Boykin, 324 S.C. 552, 556, 478 S.E.2d 689, 690 (Ct. App. 1996). Waiver by conduct “can be inferred from a defendant’s actions.” State v. Cain, 277 S.C. 210, 210, 284 S.E.2d 779, 779 (1981) (citing State v. Jacobs, 271 S.C. 126, 245 S.E.2d 606 (1978).

“The determination of whether one’s actions constitute waiver is a question of fact.” Id. at 497, 685 S.E.2d at 607. As such, the PCR court’s findings of fact must be given great deference where there is probative evidence in the record to support them. Caprood, 338 S.C. at 109, 525 S.E.2d at 517.

At Petitioner’s guilty plea, the plea judge noticed Petitioner was not represented by counsel so he advised Petitioner of his right to counsel, that counsel could be appointed if he could not afford one, and asked if Petitioner knew that. Petitioner responded he did. (App. p. 3, ll. 5-15). The plea judge asked Petitioner if when he was arraigned, the magistrate judge

informed him of his right to a lawyer, that one could be appointed if he wanted, and that he needed to fill an application for same in the Public Defender's Office, to which Petitioner indicated the magistrate judge did inform him. (App. p. 3, ll. 16-22). Petitioner admitted he did not apply for a public defender. (App. p. 3, ll. 23-25). The plea judge then asked if during Petitioner's first appearance the judge inform him of his right to a lawyer, that one could be appointed if he wanted, and that he needed to fill an application for same in the Public Defender's Office, to which Petitioner indicated he was again informed. (App. p. 4, ll. 1-8). Again, Petitioner did not apply for a public defender. (App. p. 4, ll. 9-11). The plea judge asked if during Petitioner's second appearance the judge informed him of his right to a lawyer, that one could be appointed if he wanted, and that he needed to fill an application for same in the Public Defender's Office, to which Petitioner indicated he was informed a **third** time. (App. p. 4, ll. 12-17). Petition still did not apply for a public defender. (App. p. 4, ll. 18-19).

Petitioner was arrested approximately one year prior to his guilty plea. (App. p. 4, l. 25 – p. 5, l. 4). Within that year, despite three separate instructions that if he could not afford an attorney, he need to fill out an application for a public defender, Petitioner made no attempts to apply for a public defender. Petitioner told the plea judge he “tried to talk over there yesterday.” (App. p. 5, ll. 9-10). Then, Petitioner told the plea judge he also called the Public Defender's Office the week before his trial date, but they told him it would take two weeks to appoint an attorney to him. (App. p. 5, ll. 14-16). Judge Cole found Petitioner waived his right to counsel by failing to hire a lawyer or applying for a public defender over the course of a year until the week before, when his case was put on the trial docket despite having been instructed three

separate times he needed to apply for a public defender if he could not retain a lawyer. (App. p. 5, ll. 11-13; p. 5, l. 20 – p. 6, l. 2).

Petitioner proceeded to freely and voluntarily plead guilty as indicted after being apprised of and waiving his constitutional rights, advised of the charges against him, the possible penalties, and the State's recommendation. (App. pp. 6-13).

At Petitioner's PCR hearing, Petitioner conceded he waited a long time get a lawyer, but explained he did not have the money to get one. (App. p. 36, ll. 20-22). Petitioner testified he was given approximately thirty days' notice of his trial date. (App. p. 37, ll. 18-20). The PCR judge agreed with the plea judge in that Petitioner had waived his right to counsel by conduct. At the end of the hearing, the PCR judge also noted Petitioner had a prior criminal history which demonstrated his experience with the criminal justice system.² (App. p. 40, ll. 13-20).

Neither the plea judge nor the PCR judge erred in finding Petitioner waived by conduct. The waiver was inferred by Petitioner's acts, or rather omissions, and therefore, Faretta³ warnings did not need to be given for a valid waiver by conduct. In Roberson, this Court found the Court of Appeals erred in finding that in order for a defendant to waive by conduct the requirements of Faretta must be met. Roberson, 382 S.C. at 188, 675 S.E.2d at 732. This Court specifically found Faretta inapplicable in cases of waiver by conduct. Id. Waiver by conduct only requires a finding by the court that a defendant has waived his right through some act or omission. Id.; See also Cain, supra (“[W]aiver of the right to counsel may be inferred from a defendant's actions.”).

In Roberson, the appellant waived his Sixth Amendment right to counsel when he disregarded the instructions of the court and inexcusably failed to appear for trial. Id. Likewise, Petitioner waived his right to counsel when he disregarded **three** separate instructions of the court and inexcusably failed to hire a lawyer or apply for a public defender. To further demonstrate Petitioner's utter neglect to exercise his right to counsel, Petitioner was aware of his trial thirty days prior and still waited until the week before his trial to **call** the Public Defender's Office and at no point in time during the one year pendency of his trial did he actually apply for a public defender.

Additionally, this Court, in finding Roberson waived by conduct, considered in its analysis the fact that Roberson's criminal history showed a familiarity with the criminal justice system. Id. Here, the record demonstrates the PCR court also considered Petitioner's familiarity with the criminal justice system and understanding of his rights based on his prior criminal record. (App. p. 40, ll. 13-20) The record also demonstrates that Petitioner took responsibility and fully acknowledged and accepted his guilt at his plea hearing. (App. p. 10, l. 23 – p. 11, l. 1). Petitioner stated he was pleading guilty "freely and voluntarily[.]" (App. p. 10, ll. 20-22). Petitioner pled pursuant to a recommended concurrent sentence. (App. p. 10, ll. 6-15). Petitioner clearly knew and understood the charges against him and the possible penalties he faced. (App. pp. 8-10).

In State v. Jacobs, 271 S.C. 126, 245 S.E.2d 606 (1978), this Court found there was an inferable waiver of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel by omissions. Jacobs participated in his trial but did not have counsel. Id. Because Jacobs was not indigent, the court urged him to

² It is unclear if the PCR court also considered Petitioner's active sentences for his State Grand Jury convictions.

retain a lawyer and continued the case at least once to enable Jacobs to hire counsel. Id. Although Jacobs never expressly waived his right to counsel, this Court held he waived his right to counsel by his conduct because he was given reasonable time to secure counsel, he was financially able to retain counsel, and the court advised him to seek counsel. Id.

Similar to Jacobs, Petitioner was given a reasonable amount of time (one year) to secure counsel and the court advised him of his right to counsel and how to obtain an appointed lawyer. There was nothing more the court could do to protect Petitioner's right to counsel short of holding his hand and walking him to the Public Defender's Office to file an application. At some point, a defendant has to accept responsibility in securing and asserting his own rights. His repeated neglect in securing an attorney and his disregard for the court's instructions are sufficient to find a waiver of his right to counsel by his conduct.

Lastly, Petitioner's reliance on Wroten v. State, 301 S.C. 293, 391 S.E.2d 575 (1990), and Gardner v. State, 351 S.C. 407, 570 S.E.2d 184 (2002), is misplaced. Wroten and Gardner are wholly inapplicable to the case at bar. Both of those cases involved a defendant's waiver of the right to counsel by an affirmative, verbal request. Wroten and Gardner were not apprised of the dangers of proceeding *pro se* and therefore, the Court found there was no valid waiver. Petitioner did not need to be advised of the dangers of proceeding *pro se* in order to waive his right to counsel by his conduct. Accordingly, there is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's denial of relief and the PCR court did not err in finding Petitioner waived by conduct.

³ Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975).

CONCLUSION